UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

12-5-2011

AED, Inc. v. KDC Investments, LLC Appellant's Brief Dckt. 38603

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case

Plaintiff/Appellant Advanced Explosives Demolition, Inc., ("AED") and Defendant/Respondent KDC Investments, LLC, ("KDC") entered into an agreement for KDC to purchase a bridge from AED (the "Sales Agreement") and for AED to perform part of the demolition work to remove the bridge (the "Blasting Agreement"). The parties reduced their agreement to two separate writings. KDC paid the purchase price for the bridge, but refused to honor the Blasting Agreement.

AED filed suit seeking to rescind the Sales Agreement on the grounds that KDC fraudulently induced AED into selling KDC the bridge by contracting AED to do the blasting work when KDC had no intention of honoring that commitment. AED also filed suit for breach of the Blasting Agreement. KDC denied the parties had entered into the Blasting Agreement and, alleged, amongst other things, that the Blasting Agreement was illegal because AED did not have a contractor's license.

B. Proceedings Below

KDC brought a motion for preliminary injunction seeking to preliminarily enforce the Sales Agreement. The District Court denied the motion and in the process ruled the AED was not entitled to rescission because it had not made a proper tender of consideration to KDC.

KDC brought a motion for summary judgment on various grounds. The District Court ruled that 1) that the Blasting Agreement was illegal 2) and because it was illegal, AED could not rely on it in its fraud claim and 3) AED had provided no proof that KDC did not intend to perform the Blasting Agreement when it signed the Blasting Agreement. The District Court then quieted title of the bridge to KDC and dismissed AED's breach of contract claims.

On reconsideration, AED pointed out that AED's allegation is that the Blasting Agreement was material to the Sales Agreement and if the Blasting Agreement was illegal, the Sales Agreement was not enforceable or at least a question of fact existed in that regard. The District Court resolved the factual question in favor of KDC and denied the motion to reconsider.

C. Facts

In 2009, AED purchased the Bellaire Bridge. The Bellaire Bridge was the subject of a Court Order for its removal (R.468 ¶3). While AED was finalizing its purchase of the bridge, Eric Kelly on behalf of AED was simultaneously negotiating the sale of the bridge to KDC, who was acting through Lee and Krystal Chaklos (R.469 ¶¶8-10). Lee Chaklos owned Delta Demolition. KDC was going to hire Delta Demolition to remove the bridge, and Delta was going to hire AED to perform the blasting pursuant to the terms of the Blasting Agreement.

AED had reservations about selling the bridge due to the fact that AED was ultimately responsible for the removal of the bridge to both the seller of the bridge and the Court which had Ordered its removal (R.469 ¶9). However, AED believed that KDC could properly accomplish the removal of the bridge provided AED was involved in the project (R.469 ¶10).

On January 14, 2010, Eric Kelly on behalf of AED and Lee Chaklos on behalf of KDC exchanged an e-mail where the parties agreed to all the material terms of the agreements. AED, the parties agreed, would purchase the bridge, and then sell it to Delta Group (referring to Lee Chaklos' company Delta Demolition) for \$25,000 who would then hire AED to blast the steel superstructure for \$175,000 (R. 470 ¶11, R.476 – 478).

On May 19, 2010, Eric Kelly sent Krystal Chaklos an e-mail which set forth the terms for the Blasting Agreement between AED and Delta Demolition (R.470 ¶12, R.479- 481). The following day, Krystal Chaklos returned the Sales Agreement for the bridge accompanied by a

fax cover sheet indicating that she looked forward to working with AED on the blasting work (R.

470 ¶13, R.482- 483).

The Sales Agreement required KDC to pay \$25,000 upon execution of the agreement.

On May 20, 2010, the parties executed a document entitled "Letter of Contingency", which

provided:

To all, bear witness this 20th day of May 2010, that the parties identified as Advanced Explosives, Inc., (AED) and KDC Investments, LLC, hereby agree, in whole and part, that the purchase money will be conveyed to AED no later than the 25th day of May, 2010, via wire transfer.

It is also agreed that if such money is not recorded by the 26^{th} day of May, 2010, any and all previous agreements are null and void (R.225).

The purchase money for the bridge was not paid on May 25th (R.471 ¶15). On May 27th, AED informed KDC the agreement was terminated because the purchase money was not paid (R.471 ¶16), R.484- 486).

Notwithstanding the fact that the Sales Agreement was null and void, AED and KDC continued to negotiate regarding the sale and demolition of the bridge. On June 1, 2010, via e-mail, AED again reiterated the requirement that KDC hire AED to blast the bridge and proposed to sell the bridge to KDC under the same terms and conditions as the prior now void Sales Agreement. AED specifically required the execution of the Blasting Contract. Krystal Chaklos responded, "You have my word that AED will do the blast as long as you are still receptive to doing...Krystal." (R.471 ¶18, R.487- 489). The same day, KDC and AED executed a contract for AED to blast the bridge (R.471 – 472 ¶19, R.490 – 499). The purchase money of \$25,000 for the sale of the bridge was paid on June 3, 2010.

The Blasting Agreement required KDC to pay \$30,000 to AED on or before June 9, 2010, which KDC did not pay (R.472 ¶20). After June 9th, AED continued in good faith to fulfill its obligations pursuant to the parties' bargain, notwithstanding the fact that KDC had for the second time breached the agreement. AED incurred time and expenses, including the purchase of the explosives for the job which had been custom cut for the project (R.472 ¶22).

On June 14th, AED inquired regarding payment and informed KDC that AED would not be going any further unless AED received payment pursuant to the parties' written agreement (R.472 ¶23, R.502 – 503). In that same e-mail, Kelly informed KDC that it would take about two days to obtain a West Virginia contractor's license in response to KDC's continued mentioning that AED needed that license. It took three days to obtain said contractor's license (R.518 ¶5) and it was obtained on October 17, 2010. (R.699)

On June 16th, Kelly and Lee Chaklos had another discussion about the failure of KDC to pay the \$30,000 as required by the Blasting Agreement (R.472 ¶24). During that exchange, Lee Chaklos offered to sell the bridge back to AED for \$25,000. Later that day, Krystal Chaklos sent Kelly an e-mail stating that the price to buy the bridge back was the amount of the Blast Agreement -- \$175,000 (R.473 ¶25). Then later, Krystal Chaklos sent Eric Kelly an e-mail that AED would be paid when <u>Delta</u> had received the City of Benwood's permit to proceed (R.473 ¶26, R.504 – 508). This e-mail also emphasized that AED would need a West Virginia contractor's license.

On June 18th, AED responded in writing to Krystal Chaklos' e-mail regarding KDC's failure to pay based on permitting and informed her that permitting was not a condition precedent to payment. AED further stated through Eric Kelly, "according to US Federal and State of West Virginia law, there is no requirement for a WESTE VIGRINIA CONTRACTORS

LICENCE (Sic in order to enter into a contractual agreement between two parties." AED further informed her necessary permitting would be in place by the time AED had to perform under the parties' agreement (R.473 ¶27, R.509 – 511). On June 29th, AED informed Krystal Chaklos that AED stood ready, willing, and able to perform (R.473 ¶28, R.512 – 514).

On July 7th, AED involved its counsel who wrote to Krystal Chaklos and demanded either that the deposit be wired or suit would be filed (R.453 – 455). The response to that demand was that KDC had discussed the proposal with its counsel and that KDC was not in breach of the proposal because AED was not qualified to do the job. Counsel for AED then demanded that KDC identify in what respect AED was not qualified to do the job, and the response was that AED had not, "…conveyed the proper paperwork for qualification," and that AED and Kelly were well aware of the required paperwork, but the "required paperwork" was still left undefined (R.456 – 459). KDC also repudiated its obligation to go forward with the Blasting Agreement.

On July 13th, counsel for KDC wrote a letter to counsel for AED taking the position that the Blasting Agreement was not a contract, and alleged KDC had not signed it and that even if it was a contract, AED had breached it because AED did not have a West Virginia contractor's license and, "...did not meet other various licensing and permit requirements," but again the requirements were left unidentified. Furthermore, KDC now took the position that AED did not have proper insurance. (R.543 ¶2, R.547). Additionally, on July 13th, AED offered to return KDC's purchase money for the bridge (R.473 ¶29, R.515 – 516).

On July 21st, counsel for AED spoke with counsel for KDC and asked him to identify what licensing requirements were missing and still no additional information was provided. (R.544 ¶3-5). Thereafter, AED commenced this action.

ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the District Court error in determining that the Blasting Agreement was illegal and void because AED did not have a West Virginia Contractor's License at the time of the making of the agreement?
- II. Did the District Court error by enforcing the Sales Agreement even though a material question of fact existed as to whether the Blasting Agreement could be severed from the Sales Agreement?
- III. Did the District Court error by holding that AED could not seek rescission because AED had not made a proper tender of KDC's consideration?
- IV. Did the District Court error by dismissing AED's claim of fraudulent inducement on summary judgment based on a lack of evidence?
- V. Did the District Court error by striking certain portions of AED's affidavits filed in opposition to summary Judgment.
- VI. Is AED entitled to attorneys fees on appeal?

ARGUMENT

I. <u>THE FAILURE TO HAVE A CONTRACTOR'S LICENSE AT THE TIME OF CONTRACTING DOES</u> <u>NOT RENDER AN EXECUTORY AGREEMENT TO PERFORM CONSTRUCTION WORK</u> <u>UNENFORCEABLE BECAUSE THE CONTRACTOR CAN RECOVER FOR WORK PERFORMED</u> <u>AFTER OBTAINING PROPER LICENSING.</u>

The District Court allowed KDC to avoid its obligation under the Blasting Agreement because AED had not obtained a West Virginia Contractor's license <u>at the time of entering into</u> <u>the agreement</u>. This was in error because under Idaho or West Virginia Law¹, an executory contract for construction work cannot be avoided on the grounds that the contract lacks the proper licensing in Idaho or West Virginia.

Even if this Court determines that the failure to have a license is a defense to enforcement of an executory contract for construction work, as soon as the contractor obtains the proper licensing, then the contract can no longer be avoided. AED had the proper licensing at the time the Court declared the contract to be illegal and that fact rendered the Blasting Agreement enforceable.

KDC argued and the District Court agreed the contract was illegal on the basis that AED did not have a West Virginia contractor's license at the time it entered into the Blasting Agreement. (R.914). The District Court determined the facts of this case to be similar to <u>Barry</u> <u>v. Pacific West Const., Inc.,</u> 140 Idaho 827, 103 P.3d 440 (2004), where the Idaho Supreme Court determined that the agreement in question was illegal. (R.700). The agreement in *Barry* which was deemed illegal was the agreement to intentionally avoid the requirements of the Idaho Public Works Contractor Licensing Act. "On March 8, Jack asked Barry if Quality had a public works license. Barry acknowledged that it did not. Jack stated that Quality would have to

¹ West Virginia's Supreme Court has specially held that the failure of the contractor to have proper licensing is not a defense to action for payment by the contractor. *Timber Ridge, Inc. v. Hunt Country Asphalt & Paving, LLC* 222W.Va. 784, 789, 671 S.E.2d. 789, 794 (W.Va 2008)

<u>continue its work as Pac–West employees. Barry agreed and advised his employees of the</u> <u>arrangement.</u> Quality continued its work under the umbrella of Pac–West's public works license." <u>Barry v. Pacific West Const., Inc.,</u> 140 Idaho 827, 830, 103 P.3d 440, 443 (2004) (emphasis supplied). Quality/Barry was a subcontractor and was required to have a public works contractor's license. The agreement in that case was that Quality would continue to work on the project without the required license. That is an agreement to intentionally violate the public works contractor registration requirements, an illegal act, and was properly declared to be an unenforceable agreement.

Unlike Barry, the agreement here does not contemplate AED perform any illegal act and specifically requires AED to obtain proper licensing. The District Court acknowledged that, "At the time of actual *performance* of this executory contract, it is likely that AED could have had, or perhaps even would have had, any necessary licensing/registration to perform the contract as agreed upon by the parties," but then invalidated the contract because AED did not have a license <u>at the time</u> it entered into the agreement. (R.914). This is in error because in neither West Virginia nor Idaho, the failure of the contractor to have a license at contract formation does not render an executory contract illegal and unenforceable. In Idaho, the contractor can collect for work performed only while the contractor was properly licensed, even if the contractor was not licensed at the time of contract formation.

In general, the fact that a license might have to be obtained before the work is performed does not render a contract illegal.

Many contracts cannot lawfully be performed without securing a permit, license, or approval from some governmental officer or board, and yet the contracts are not deemed illegal.

Professor Williston says, 'The fact that a party bargains to do an act which will be illegal unless governmental permission is

obtained does not make such bargain illegal, and if he does not obtain such permission he is responsible in damages for failure to perform.'

> Magruder v. Hagen-Ratcliff & Co. 131 W.Va. 679, 685-686, 50 S.E.2d 488, 492 -493 (W.Va.1948) citing Nusenbaum v. Chambers & Chambers, 322 Mass. 419, 77 N.E.2d 780, 782 (Mass. 1948) citing Williston on Contracts (Rev.Ed.) § 1767, note 3.

Consistent with the foregoing, the Idaho Supreme Court has held that licensing obtained after the construction agreement was entered into validates an otherwise unenforceable agreement.

In ParkWest Homes LLC v. Barnson, 149 Idaho 603, 238 P.3d 203 (2010), the District Court determined the contract to be "void" because the contractor was not registered at the time the contractor signed the contract. The contractor in that case did not challenge this finding on appeal so the Supreme Court did not address that issue. (Id. at 608, 208). However, the District Court also invalidated the contractor's lien. Idaho Code 54-5208 provides that a contractor shall be allowed a lien if not registered, but the Supreme Court determined that the statute only prevented a lien for work performed while the contractor was unlicensed, and the contractor could collect for work performed after the contractor had obtained proper licensing. The Supreme Court found this interpretation consistent with Idaho Code 54-5217(2) which provides that a contractor must prove proper licensing "...at all times <u>during the performance</u> of such act or contract" in order to maintain an action for payment. (ParkWest at 608, 208). The Supreme Court specifically found that the work performed by *Parkwest* while unregistered illegal, but work done while registered was legal. (Id.) Therefore, the failure of the contractor to be licensed at the time of contracting does not invalidate the entire agreement on the grounds of illegality. Idaho's Contractor Registration Act does not invalidate an executory contractor to perform construction work if the contractor was unlicensed at the time of contracting, it just prevents the collection of money earned for work performed without the proper license. If the failure of the contractor to be licensed at the time of contracting voided the entire transaction, the Supreme Court in <u>Parkwest</u> could have made that determination *sue sponte* in that case. <u>Taylor v. AIA Services Corp.</u>, 151 Idaho 552, 261 P.3d 829, 841 (2011), but specifically found that work performed after licensing was obtained was not illegal. Implicit in this finding is that the failure of the contractor to be licensed at the time of contracting does not render the agreement void and unenforceable.

Even if the failure to have a contractor's license is a bar to bringing suit to enforce and executory contract for construction work, that bar disappeared when AED obtained the West Virginia Contractor's license which occurred prior to the District Court's declaration that the Blasting Agreement was illegal.

The Blasting Agreement is not illegal, but if it is, the Sales Agreement is also illegal and the District Court should not have enforced it by quieting title to the bridge in KDC.

II. <u>THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED BY ENFORCING THE SALES AGREEMENT BECAUSE A</u> <u>QUESTION OF FACT EXISTS AS TO WHETHER THE BLASTING AGREEMENT WAS</u> <u>MATERIAL TO THE SALES AGREEMENT AND THE DISTRICT COURT SHOULD HAVE</u> <u>SUBMITTED THAT ISSUE TO THE JURY.</u>

The District Court ruled that the promise by KDC to hire AED is illegal, but then enforced the remainder of the parties' agreement to sell the bridge. If the blasting agreement is illegal, then the remainder of the agreement is illegal because the blast portion was material to AED and cannot be separated from the agreement to sell the bridge, or at least a question of fact exists as to whether the Blast Agreement was material to the Sales Agreement. The District Court should not have provided KDC any relief as it is providing affirmative relief to a party to an illegal agreement.

First, the District Court seemed to take offense to AED's suggestion that if the Blasting Agreement was illegal, so was the Sales Agreement. The District Court referred to AED's argument as "creative" and taking "some nerve," (R.911), because AED was suggesting the Blast Agreement was illegal. <u>AED does not now nor has it ever taken the position that the Blast Agreement is illegal.</u> As set forth above, the District Court's ruling in this regard in error. AED was only pointing out to the District Court, as it is to the Appellate Court, that <u>if</u> the Blasting Agreement is illegal, the holding had ramifications for the enforceability of the Sales Agreement because the agreement to sell the bridge was entirely depending on the agreement to sell the bridge. The District Court should not have enforced the agreement to sell the bridge because it cannot be severed from the agreement that AED blast the bridge.

If less than all of an agreement is unenforceable under the rule stated in $\underline{\$178}$, a court may nevertheless enforce the rest of the agreement in favor of a party who did not engage in serious misconduct if the performance as to which the agreement is unenforceable is not an essential part of the agreed exchange.

Restatement Second of Contracts § 184

Primarily the criterion would appear to be whether the parties would have entered into the agreement irrespective of the offending provisions of the contract. This can usually be determined by weighing equality of the agreed exchange before and after the proposed severance.

> Calamari and Perillo on Contracts, Third Edition 1987 at 893, citing Marsh, the Severance of Illegality in Contracts (pts 1 & 2) 64 L.Q.Rev. 230, 347 (1948) and Restatement

Second of Contracts, Section 184, Comment a.

Whether the Blasting Agreement was an "essential part of the agreed exchange" is a question of materiality and a question of fact for the jury. "It is well established that materiality is a question of fact for the trial court,..." <u>Mountain Restaurant Corp. v. ParkCenter Mall</u> Associates, 122 Idaho 261, 267, 833 P.2d 119, 125 (Ct. App.1992).

In this case, the District Court improperly choose to resolve this question of fact in favor

of KDC based on the District Court's construing the evidence in the light most favorable to

KDC. This was error and the evidence before the District Court clearly establishes that AED

would not have sold the bridge to KDC but for the fact that KDC hired AED to blast the bridge.

The District Court's factual determination that the Blasting Agreement was not material

to the agreement to sell the bridge rests heavily on the District Court's factual finding that the

Blast Agreement and Sales Agreement were entered into at different times.

Had the illegal demolition agreement been entered into *before* the purchase agreement, then there might be more to AED's argument. But here, the demolition agreement did not even exist at the time the purchase agreement was entered into. (R.910-911)

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