Uldaho Law **Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

5-7-2012

AED, Inc. v. KDC Investments, LLC Respondent's Brief Dckt. 38603

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

agreement, particularly where AED was able to obtain favorable provisions such as venue in Kootenai County. Significantly, the purchase agreement was not some amateurish or abbreviated document; it contains 11 pages of recitals and terms. (R. p. 129-139.) Simply put, if the blasting job was really material to Eric Kelly, he would have put it in the purchase agreement.

While Eric Kelly's affidavit which purported to establish how much AED expected to make blasting the bridge was stricken (although Appellant does not mention this nor challenge the ruling on appeal), Respondents will nevertheless discuss this point since Appellant does. In short, the consideration AED received from KDC, which was both the purchase price and KDC taking over its significant liability, was considerable, sufficient, and hardly unfair.

While AED no doubt desired to maximize its profit from its dealings with the bridge, simply selling the bridge without the follow up work still turned a handy profit. AED bought the bridge for one dollar (\$1.00), so immediately selling it for \$25,000 represents an extremely good return on its investment. (R. p. 618.)

Furthermore, when AED bought the bridge it also agreed to demolish and remove the bridge by June 1, 2011, and in selling it to KDC, relieved itself of that costly obligation.¹² Demolition and removal of the bridge was a significant undertaking which even Eric Kelly said was fraught with potential problems since the bridge crosses a river with substantial commercial traffic and could not be obstructed for more than 24 hours at a time. (R. p. 469.) AED's job of blasting the steel superstructure was only a part of

¹² AED maintains that its obligation to remove the bridge was non-assignable, while this issue did not need to be resolved below nor does it on appeal, Respondent points out (as did the district court), the "Asset Purchase and Liability Assumption Agreement" unequivocally assigned the obligation to KDC that AED claims it could not assign.

the overall demolition and removal of the bridge, AED was not removing the piers, which is the main cost of the demolition job. Nor was AED responsible for debris removal. (R. p. 84-86.)

As to Eric Kelly's claim that he had terminated the purchase agreement and then proposed to make the blasting agreement a condition of selling the bridge, this, as the district court ruled, is contrary to the evidence, including his email that said he <u>did not</u> terminate the purchase agreement (although he says he meant to say he did) and the depositions of him and his wife where they stated KDC was instead given an extension to pay. Further, it is significant that the previously signed purchase agreement was not re-signed on the later day which Appellant claims it came into existence.

As this Court explained in Nelson v. Steer, 118 Idaho 409 (1990):

Additionally, "To withstand a motion for summary judgment, the [non-moving party's] case must be anchored in something more solid than speculation; a mere scintilla of evidence is not enough to create a genuine issue." It is not the judge's function to weigh evidence, "but to determine whether there is a genuine issue for trial . . . [T]here is no issue for trial unless there is sufficient evidence favoring the non-moving party for a jury to return a verdict for that party." Summary judgment should be granted if the evidence in opposition to the motion "is merely colorable" or "is not significantly probative."

Id., p. 410 (internal citations omitted).

In short, these fact issues are not genuine because they are unsupported or contradicted by Eric Kelly himself. This is not a matter of the court making credibility decisions and improperly finding the facts on summary judgment, rather, the court properly found they were not genuine issues. A litigant's claims that are clearly disproved by the record do not create a genuine issue of material fact, and Eric Kelly's new statements which contradict his old ones do not create one here.

To summarize, Respondents suggest that this Court need not consider this issue at all because it is moot, but if it does, Appellant has failed in meeting its burden of showing that the district court abused its discretion in denying the motion to reconsider and motion to alter or amend judgment.

III.

The District Court did not err by dismissing AED's claim of fraudulent inducement on summary judgment.

Respondents have reversed the order of Appellant's issues III and IV because the later is partially dispositive of the former and so will be addressed first.

On appeal, Appellant only argues that the district court erred by dismissing on summary judgment its fraudulent inducement claim due to lack of evidence. However, this was only one of two independent grounds for dismissal utilized by the district court.

The court actually dismissed AED's fraud claims because 1) AED had no right to rely on any alleged misrepresentations since it did not have a West Virginia contractor's license, and 2) no evidence existed that KDC had no intention of allowing AED to blast the bridge when the demolition agreement was entered into. (R. p. 730.)

Appellant has not challenged the first reason for dismissal which held that since AED was unlicensed when bidding and/or entering into the blasting agreement (and thus it was illegal), it could not reasonably rely on alleged misrepresentations regarding that agreement. Thus, even if Appellant is correct and the court erred because there was sufficient evidence of fraudulent inducement, the district court must nevertheless be affirmed since there is an independent and unchallenged basis for the dismissal.

Alternatively, Respondents assert that AED has failed in its burden of proving the error it does raise. Without unnecessarily reiterating its ruling, but for all the reasons in it, the district court did not err because there was not sufficient evidence of fraudulent inducement. In short, AED's argument is just more of the same discussed in Issue II, in other words, there is no evidence, only speculation which does not create a genuine issue of material fact.

To comment on a few points, AED tries to make much of KDC's offer to sell the bridge back to AED for \$175,000, resulting in a profit of \$150,000 (which is not even correct since KDC had bought the bridge and then spent more money preparing it for demolition). AED fails to provide the context, which is during an argument between Eric Kelly and Lee Chaklos, Lee offered to sell the bridge back for \$25,000. Eric Kelly then asked Krystal Chaklos via email if it was a serious offer or just hot air, and if it was serious to put it in writing. (R. p. 507.) Krystal responded that she would sell the bridge back for what she would pay AED to blast due to the fact that she had done a lot of preliminary work and would then have to do more to undo the progress already made, but she would be handing him a project and all contacts and paperwork of approvals she already has. (R. p. 505.)

When all the evidence is considered, the offer simply does not establish a genuine fact issue as to fraud in the inducement, and rather, conclusively disproves it. Appellant argues that offering to sell the bridge back at a profit is evidence that KDC did not really intend for AED to do the blast and only agreed so KDC could buy the bridge. This makes no sense because the first offer of \$25,000 would not result in any profit to KDC from any dealings with AED and would leave KDC without the bridge. Obviously,

buying something and offering to sell it back at no profit does not establish fraud in the inducement, nor can any offer made afterwards even if it contained a profit.

Interestingly, as the dispute continued, Eric Kelly made a very similar offer to KDC when it told it that if it wants AED off the job, it can pay AED \$75,000. (R. p. 649.) Obviously, these types of offers do not show fraud in the inducement, but instead show the frustration and posturing of parties to a deal going bad.

Finally, lack of evidence aside, the fatal flaw with Appellant's fraud in the inducement claim is that KDC did not simply terminate the contract based on AED's failure to have its licensing at the time of bidding or entering into the contract as it could have. Rather, it tried to get AED to obtain the license which AED refused to do. ¹³

For example, one email to AED exclaimed in capital letters "[y]ou will need a WEST VIRGINIA CONTRACTORS LICENCE [sic]! from the state of West Virginia to participate in this project." (R. p. 507.) Further, KDC only terminated the demolition agreement after AED's attorney advised that AED was filing suit.

So again, Respondents assert this Court need not reach this argument because the district court must be affirmed on the alternative grounds, or, if it is reached, Appellant has failed in its burden of establishing error.

¹³ AED's refusal to obtain licensing would also be an independent and intervening event.

The District Court did not err by holding that AED could not seek rescission because AED had not made a proper tender of KDC's consideration

This is again an issue which need not be reached. First, AED requested recession based on its fraud claim, but since AED did not appeal all of the grounds for the dismissal of its fraud claim it must be affirmed, so there is no basis for rescission.

Second, Appellant did not appeal all the decisions necessary to reverse the district court as to the rescission issue. Appellant challenges on appeal only the court's ruling that a sufficient tender must be made prior to the filing of the lawsuit, and Respondents assert Appellant fails in showing error even for that.

Appellant did not challenge on appeal the additional, independent grounds of the district court's ruling that rescission was not an available remedy for AED. This includes the ruling that AED is not entitled to the equitable rescission it requests since it did not have its West Virginia Contractor's license in place and therefore did not have clean hands. (R. p. 712-713.) Further, AED may have assigned what it had no right to assign (AED claims the obligation to remove the bridge was unassignable, but clearly assigned it to KDC in the purchase agreement) and in so doing, committed a fraud upon the party who sold the bridge to AED and the federal court. (R. p. 713.) The district court also ruled that AED had failed to meet the pleading requirements for rescission. (R. p. 713-715.)

Accordingly, Respondents assert that the district court's ruling on rescission must be affirmed for any one of the reasons above.

The District Court did not err by striking certain portions of AED's affidavits filed in opposition to summary judgment.

A. Introduction

Respondents suggest that this Court need not consider whether the district court committed any error in striking an affidavit and portions of another one. This is because if there was error, it was harmless.

B. Standard of review

Trial court decisions admitting or excluding evidence on summary judgment are viewed under the abuse of discretion standard. *J-U-B Eng'rs, Inc. v. Sec. Ins. Co.*, 146 Idaho 311 (2008).

The harmless error rule provides as follows:

No error in either the admission or the exclusion of evidence and no error or defect in any ruling or order or in anything done or omitted by the court or by any of the parties is ground for granting a new trial or for setting aside a verdict or for vacating, modifying, or otherwise disturbing a judgment or order, unless refusal to take such action appears to the court inconsistent with substantial justice. The court at every stage of the proceeding must disregard any error or defect in the proceeding which does not affect the substantial rights of the parties.

I.R.C.P. 61.

C. The court did not err, or, if it did, any evidentiary error is harmless

The district court struck paragraphs 6, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14, 17, 19, 20, 21, 22, 23, 24, 30, 31, and 33 of the Affidavit of Eric J. Kelly in Opposition to Summary Judgment, the entire Affidavit of Mark Wilburn in Opposition to Summary Judgment, and the entire Affidavit of Eric Kelly in Support of Motion to Reconsider. (R. p. 694-695,

919.) On appeal, AED challenges only the rulings striking the Mark Wilburn affidavit and of paragraphs 9, 10, 20, 30, 31, and 33 of the Affidavit of Eric Kelly in Opposition to Summary Judgment.

Respondents assert that the district court's rulings are correct and speak for themselves, and Appellant has failed to establish any error in the first instance. However, Respondents will not belabor the rulings because assuming for the sake of argument every ruling of the district court was wrong, reversal is still not required because the errors were harmless.

For example, the district court struck the Affidavit of Mark Wilburn which was propounded to establish that the West Virginia Contractor's license took three days to obtain and it was obtained on October 17, 2010. Ignoring that the court actually had that date before it from other sources, if those facts are considered now, it changes nothing. AED still did not have the license at the time of contracting and did not even apply for it until some 5½ months later after suit was filed. In short, no decision would be any different with the definitive fact that AED applied for the license on October 14, 2010, and received it on October 17, 2010, when the contract was entered into some 5½ months earlier.

Nor would consideration of the paragraphs struck from the Affidavit of Eric Kelly change anything. As to paragraphs 30, 31 and 33, they explain that Eric Kelly is worried if the court continues to rule that AED cannot rescind the purchase agreement, the bridge will be used as security and therefore any damages AED receives from the court will have lower priority. Also, Eric Kelly does not like the way that KDC plans to demolish the bridge. Obviously, given the result below, Eric Kelly's worries were

unfounded, but even before summary judgment was entered, they were not somehow a defense to it.

Appellant also challenges the district court striking paragraph 9 which states that AED was reluctant to sell the bridge to Chaklos or any party because of its ultimate responsibility to assure removal of the bridge. Appellant challenges the district court striking paragraph 10 where Eric Kelly states he believes that the Chaklos' can properly demolish the bridge with AED's assistance and that would keep AED in the loop.

Appellant claims that all these paragraphs (9, 10, 30, 31 & 33) further explain why the demolition agreement was material to the purchase agreement. While Respondents suggest that they either do not or at most do a poor job of it, that is not surprising since that was not the reason they were propounded. The affidavit was filed in opposition to summary judgment, and the consideration for the purchase agreement issue did not come up until the (second) motion to reconsider. However, AED never requested the court reconsider its evidentiary rulings and/or argued the paragraphs were admissible for a new purpose and claim of relevance. Thus, Respondents suggest that this Court should decline to make that determination in the first instance.

In any event, the result of this case would not be different had these five paragraphs been in evidence. This is true whether they were used to explain Eric Kelly's post judgment concerns, or whether used as support for the theory on reconsideration. They are either inadmissible parol evidence being used to change the terms of an unambiguous written contract, or are just cumulative to Eric Kelly's other statements that he would not have sold the bridge if he would not be blasting it, which as previously explained, do not create a genuine issue of material fact.

Finally, Appellant challenges the striking of paragraph 20, which establishes that KDC did not pay the \$30,000 on or before June 9, 2010, and also, that KDC did not substitute itself as the real party in interest into the federal court case. While Appellant does not even attempt to explain the significance of these statements and how they would lead to reversal here, they presumably are related to the fraud claim. However, since dismissal of that claim must be affirmed as explained above, any error regarding striking these claims is harmless.

If Paragraph 20 is not related to the fraud claim, any error is still harmless, since the failure to pay the \$30,000 was an otherwise established fact, and the failure of KDC to substitute into the federal case is not relevant to any issue in this suit. Although interestingly, the fact that AED was complaining that KDC had not substituted into the federal lawsuit in Ohio as the real party in interest strongly suggests that contrary to AED's claims, its obligation to remove the bridge was assigned to KDC.

To conclude, Respondents first assert that Appellant has not shown error, but assuming *arguendo* it did, if the stricken paragraphs are all considered, any error is harmless because they do not change a thing.

VI.

It is KDC, and not AED, who is entitled to attorney fees on appeal.

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